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32 Defendants and one Relief Defendant.  (Dkt. 235).  Plaintiff’s Amended 

Complaint asserts the same claims, and seeks the same relief, as its initial 

Complaint but adds several defendants and a relief defendant count.  Plaintiff’s 

Complaint and Amended Complaint allege that Defendants, acting as a common 

enterprise, violated Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 

15 U.S.C. § 45; Section 4 of the Restore Online Shoppers’ Confidence Act 

(“ROSCA”), 15 U.S.C. § 8404; and Section 917(c) of the Electronic Funds 

Transfer Act (“EFTA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1693o(c). 

The FTC having filed its Motion for Entry of Default Judgment and Order 

for Permanent Injunction and Other Equitable Relief Against Defendant 

Kristopher Bond (Motion), and the Court having considered the FTC’s Motion 

and supporting exhibits (Dkt. 607), the FTC’s Motion is hereby granted.  

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED as follows: 

FINDINGS 

1.  “‘The general rule of law is that upon default the factual allegations of the 

complaint, except those relating to the amount of damages, will be taken as true.’” 

See TeleVideo Sys., Inc. v. Heidenthal, 826 F.2d 915, 917-18 (9th Cir. 1987). 

2. This Court is satisfied that Kristopher Bond, aka Ray Ibbot (“Defaulting 

Defendant”) was properly served with the First Amended Complaint and a 

proposed Default Judgment Order.  Defaulting Defendant Kristopher Bond was 
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served as described in the Proofs of Service filed with the Clerk of Court. (Dkt. 

569). 

3. The Defaulting Defendant has not answered or otherwise appeared in this 

action. The Clerk of Court entered a Default against Kristopher Bond on January 

27, 2017. (Dkt. 575). 

4. Therefore, the factual allegations of the Amended Complaint, except 

those 

relating to the amount of damages, will be taken as true. 

5. This is an action by the Commission under Sections 13(b) and 19 of the 

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 53(b) and 57bBEMC 
/LBod18. 
/ E
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8. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)(1) and (b)(2), 

and 15 U.S.C. § 53(b). 

PLAINTIFF 

9. The FTC is an independent agency of the United States Government created 
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a. conducted the business practices at issue through an interrelated network 

of companies with common ownership, officers, managers, business 

functions, employees, and office locations (Dkt. 235 at p.22 ¶42); and 

b. the companies commingled funds, used the same deceptive sales 

techniques, and had centralized record keeping.  (Dkt. 235 at p.22 ¶50). 

14. These allegations, taken as true, establish that, as a member of a common 

enterprise, Defaulting Defendant violated Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 45(a), Section 4 of ROSCA, 15 U.S.C. § 8403, and Section 907(a) of EFTA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1693e(a). (Dkt. 235 at p.6 ¶3 and p.22 ¶42). 

DEFAULTING D
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accredited by and have a rating of “A-” with the Better Business Bureau.  (Dkt. 

235 at pp.37-38 ¶¶ 76-78). 

20. Accordingly, the Court finds Defaulting Defendant liable under Count 3 of 

the Amended Complaint.  (Dkt. 235 at p.37-38 ¶¶ 76-78). 

21. The Court finds that, in connection with the online sale of skincare products 

through a negative option continuity plan and as a member of a common 

enterprise, Defaulting Defendant violated Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 45(a) and (n) by having caused charges to submitted for payment to the credit 

and debit cards of consumers without their express informed consent.  (Dkt. 235 at 

p.38 ¶¶ 79-81). 

22. Accordingly, the Court finds Defaulting Defendant liable under Count 4 of 

the Amended Complaint.  (Dkt. 235 at p.38 ¶¶ 79-81). 

23. The Court finds that, in connection with the online sale of skincare products 

through a negative option continuity plan and as a member of a common 

enterprise, Defaulting Defendant violated Section 4 of ROSCA, 15 U.S.C. § 8403, 

by failing to: 

a. clearly and conspicuously disclose all material terms of the negative 

option feature of the skincare products transaction before obtaining the 

consumer’s billing information (Dkt. 235 at p.40 ¶87(a));  
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authenticated by the consumers for preauthorized electronic fund 

transfers from the consumers’ account.  (Dkt. 235 at p.42 ¶94). 

26. Accordingly, the Court finds Defaulting Defendant liable under Count 6 of 

the Amended Complaint.  (Dkt. 235 at pp. 42-43 ¶¶ 93-96). 

PERMANENT INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

27. Section 13(b) of the FTC Act authorizes courts to issue a permanent 

injunction whenever a defendant violates the laws enforced by the Commission 

and is likely to continue to violate them.  FTC v. H.N. Singer, Inc., 668 F.2d 1107, 

1111 (9th Cir. 1982); FTC v. Gem Merch. Corp., 87 F.3d 466, 468 (11th Cir. 

1996); FTC v. Medlab, Inc., 615 F. Supp. 2d 1068, 1082 (N.D. Cal. 2009).  To 

determine whether a defendant is likely to engage in similar violations in the 

future, courts look to two general factors:  (a) the deliberateness and seriousness 

of the present violation, and (b) the defendant’s past record with respect to 

deceptive and unfair marketing practices. Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. FTC, 676 F.2d 

385, 392 (9th Cir. 1982); Ivy Capital, 2013 WL 1224613, at *16. The court may 

also weigh the “adaptability or transferability of the unfair practice to other 

products.” Id. This Court finds that a permanent injunction against Defaulting 

Defendant is proper and serves the public interest. 

28. Further, “[a] court may frame an injunction based on violation of the FTC 

Act broadly enough to prevent the defendant from engaging in similar illegal 
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conduct in the future.” FTC v. Neovi, Inc., No. 06-1952 JLS, 2010 WL 3789713, 

at *2 (S.D. Cal. Sept. 27, 2010) (citing FTC v. Colgate-Palmolive, 380 U.S. 374, 

395 (1965)). Numerous courts have imposed bans enjoin
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5. On a product label, the disclosure must be presented on the principal 

display panel. 

6. The disclosure must use diction and syntax understandable to 

ordinary consumers and must appear in each language in which the representation 

that requires the disclosure appears. 

7. The disclosure must comply with these requirements in each medium 

through which it is received, including all electronic devices and face-to-face 

communications. 

8. The disclosure must not be contradicted or mitigated by, or 

inconsistent with, anything else in the communication. 

9. When the representation or sales practice targets a specific audience, 

such as children, the elderly, or the terminally ill, “ordinary consumers” includes 

reasonable members of that group. 

D. “Credit Card Laundering” means: 

1. Presenting or depositing into, or causing or allowing another to 

present or deposit into, the credit card system for payment, a Credit Card Sales 

Draft generated by a transaction that is not the result of a credit card transaction 

between the cardholder and any Defendant; 

2. Employing, soliciting, or otherwise causing or allowing a Merchant, 

or an employee, representative, or agent of a Merchant, to present to or deposit 
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into the credit card system for payment, a Credit Card Sales Draft generated by a 

transaction that is not the result of a credit card transaction between the cardholder 

and the Merchant; or 

3. Obtaining access to the credit card system through the use of a 

business relationship or an affiliation with a Merchant, when such access is not 

authorized by the Merchant Account agreement or the applicable credit card 

system. 

E. “Credit Card Sales Draft” means any record or evidence of a credit card 

transaction. 

F. “Continuity Plan” means any plan, arrangement, or system in  

which a consumer is periodically charged for products or services without prior 

notification by the seller before each charge. 

G. “Defendants” means Defaulting Defendant and Alon Nottea; Motti Nottea; 

Doron Nottea; Igor Latsanovski; Oz Mizrahi; Roi Reuveni; Paul Medina; Alan 

Argaman; BunZai Media Group, Inc.; Pinnacle Logistics, Inc.; DSA Holdings, 

Inc.; Lifestyle Media Brands, Inc.; Agoa Holdings, Inc.; Zen Mobile Media, Inc.; 

Safehaven Ventures, Inc.; Heritage Alliance Group, Inc.; AMD Financial 

Network, Inc.; SBM Management, Inc.; Media Urge, Inc.; Adageo, LLC; 

CalEnergy, Inc.; Kai Media, Inc.; Insight Media, Inc.; Focus Media Solutions, 

Inc.; Secured Commerce, LLC; Secured Merchants, LLC; USM Products, Inc.;  
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agreement is interpreted by the seller or provider as acceptance or continuing 

acceptance of the offer or agreement. 

N. “Preauthorized Electronic Fund Transfer” as defined by the Electronic 

Fund Transfer Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1693a(10), means an electronic fund transfer 

authorized in advance to recur at substantially regular intervals. 

ORDER 

I. BAN ON NEGATIVE OPTION SALES 

IT IS ORDERED that Defaulting Defendant is permanently restrained and 

enjoined from advertising, marketing, promoting, or offering for sale any good or 

service with a Negative Option Feature, whether directly or through an 

intermediary, including by consulting, planning, participating, facilitating, or 

advising. 

II. PROHIBITED BUSINESS ACTIVITY 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defaulting Defendant, Defaulting 

Defendant’s officers, agents, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in 

active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this 

Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with promoting or 

offering for sale any good or service, are permanently restrained and enjoined 

from: 
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A. Before a customer consents to pay for such good or service, failing to 

disclose, or assisting others in failing to disclose, in a clear and conspicuous 

manner all material terms and conditions of any offer, including: 

1. The amount, timing, and manner of all fees, charges, or other 

amounts that a consumer will be charged or billed, including but not 

limited to the date of the charge and whether it will be a credit card 

charge or checking account debit; 

2. The dates that any limited time sales offer begins and ends;  

3. The identity of the seller, including the seller’s name, physical 

address, and customer service telephone number;  

4. The total costs to purchase, receive, or use, and the quantity of, any 

goods or services that are the subject of the sales offer; and 

5. Any material restriction, limitation, or condition to purchase, receive, 

or use goods or services that are the subject of a sales offer. 

B. Before a customer consents to pay for such good or service, failing to 

disclose, or assisting others in failing to disclose, in a clear and conspicuous 

manner all material terms and conditions of any refund or cancellation policies, 

including: 

1. The specific steps and means by which such requests must be 

submitted; 
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4. That the seller is accredited or rated favorably by the Better Business 

Bureau; 

5. A seller’s affiliation with, or endorsement or sponsorship by, any 

person or entity; 

6. The amount that a consumer’s credit or debit card will be charged 

and the timing of the charge(s); 

7. That a transaction has been authorized by a consumer; 

8. The dates that any limited time sales offer begins and ends; 

9. The requirements or terms of the seller’s refund or cancellation 

policies; 

10. The identity of the seller, including the seller’s name, physical 

address, and customer service telephone number; 

11. The total costs to purchase, receive, or use, and the quantity of, any 

goods or services that are the subject of the sales offer; 

12. Any material restriction, limitation, or condition to purchase, receive, 

or use goods or services that are the subject of a sales offer; and 

13. Any material aspect of the performance, efficacy, nature, or central 

characteristics of a good or service. 
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D. Providing false information to any bank or other billing entity, directly or 
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F. Failing to obtain written authorization signed or similarly authenticated 

from consumers for Preauthorized Electronic Fund Transfers from the consumer’s 

account; or 

G. Failing to provide a copy of a written authorization signed or similarly 

authenticated by a consumer for Preauthorized Electronic Fund Transfers from the 

consumer’s account. 

III. PROHIBITIONS RELATED TO MERCHANT ACCOUNTS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defaulting Defendant, Defaulting 

Defendant’s officers, agents, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in 

active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this 

Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, in connection with promoting or 

offering for sale any good or service, are permanently restrained and enjoined 

from Credit Card Laundering. 

IV. MONETARY JUDGMENT 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

A. Judgment in the amount of FORTY-FIVE MILLION NINETY-FIVE 

THOUSAND ONE HUNDRED AND TWENTY-THREE Dollars 

($45,095,123) is entered in favor of the Commission against Defaulting 

Defendant, jointly and severally, as equitable monetary relief.  
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deposited to the U.S. Treasury as disgorgement.  Defaulting Defendant has no 

right to challenge any actions the Commission or its representatives may take 

pursuant to this Subsection. 

C. Any asset freeze is modified to permit the payments/transfers identified in 

the Monetary Judgment Section. Upon completion of those payments, the asset 

freeze is dissolved as to Defaulting Defendant. 

VI. CUSTOMER INFORMATION 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defaulting Defendant, Defaulting 

Defendant’s officers, agents, employees, and attorneys, and all other persons in 

active concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of this 

Order, whether acting directly or indirectly, are permanently restrained and 

enjoined from directly or indirectly:  

A. Failing to provide sufficient customer information to enable the 

Commission to efficiently administer consumer redress.  If a representative of the 

Commission requests in writing any information related to redress, Defaulting 

Defendant must provide it, in the form prescribed by the Commission, within 14 

days. 

B.  Disclosing, using, or benefitting from customer information, including the 

name, address, telephone number, email address, Social Security number, other 

identifying information, or any data that enables access to a consumer’s account 
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(including a credit card, bank account, or other financial account), that 

Defaulting Defendant obtained prior to entry of this Order in connection with the 

sale of any product through a negative option continuity plan; and 

C. Failing to destroy such customer information in all forms in Defaulting 

Defendant’s possession, custody, or control within 10 days after entry of this 

Order. 

Provided, however, that customer information need not be disposed of, and 

may be disclosed, to the extent requested by a government agency or required by 

law, regulation, or court order.   

VII. TURNOVER OF ASSETS HELD BY THIRD PARTIES 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that any financial institution, business 

entity, or person that holds, controls, or maintains custody of any account or asset 

of Defaulting Defendant, or any account or asset held on behalf of, or for the 

benefit of, Defaulting Defendant, shall turn over such account or asset to the 

Commission, by wire transfer pursuant to directions provided by counsel for the 

Commission, or as otherwise directed in writing by counsel for the Commission, 

within 7 days of receiving a request by the Commission by any means, including, 

but not limited to, via facsimile. 
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VIII. ORDER ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defaulting Defendant obtain 

acknowledgments of receipt of this Order: 

A. Defaulting Defendant, within 7 days of entry of this Order, must submit to 

the Commission an acknowledgment of receipt of this Order sworn under penalty 

of perjury. 

B. For 20 years after entry of this Order, Defaulting Defendant, for any 

business that he, individually or collectively with any other Defendant, is the 
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IX. COMPLIANCE REPORTING 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defaulting Defendant make timely 

submissions to the Commission: 

A. One year after entry of this Order, Defaulting Defendant must submit a 

compliance report, sworn under penalty of perjury: 

1. Defaulting Defendant must:  (a) identify the primary physical, postal, 

and email address and telephone number, as designated points of contact, which 

representatives of the Commission may use to communicate with Defaulting 

Defendant; (b) identify all of Defaulting Defendant’s businesses by all of their 

names, telephone numbers, and physical, postal, email, and Internet addresses;  

(c) describe the activities of each business, including the goods and services 

offered, the means of advertising, marketing, and sales, and the involvement of 

any other Defendant which Defaulting Defendant must describe if he knows or 

should know due to his own involvement; (d) describe in detail whether and how 

Defaulting Defendant is in compliance with each Section of this Order; and  

(e) provide a copy of each Order Acknowledgment obtained pursuant to this 

Order, unless previously submitted to the Commission.  

2. Additionally, Defaulting Defendant must:  (a) identify all telephone 

numbers and all physical, postal, email and Internet addresses, including all 

residences; (b) identify all business activities, including any business for which 
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C. Defaulting Defendant must submit to the Commission notice of the filing of 

any bankruptcy petition, insolvency proceeding, or similar proceeding by or 

against Defaulting Defendant within 14 days of its filing. 

D. Any submission to the Commission required by this Order to be sworn 

under penalty of perjury must be true and accurate and comply with 28 U.S.C.  

§ 1746, such as by concluding:  “I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws 

of the United States of America that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed 

on: _____” and supplying the date, signatory’s full name, title (if applicable), and 

signature. 

E. Unless otherwise directed by a Commission representative in writing, all against Defite5.rG8 4btU.s2uefiteefiteJ
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